In the Supreme Court of Mississippi

No. 2009-CA-00684

Richard A. Prewitt

٧.

City of Oxford, Mississippi, Oxford Municipal Court, & Lawrence L. Little

Appeal from the Lafayette County Circuit Court

Brief for Appellant

George Dunbar Prewitt, Jr. Attorney for Appellant P.O. Box 1226
Greenville, MS 38702-1226
Bar

Oral Argument is not requested

Certificate of Interested Persons.

- 1. Richard A. Prewitt
- 2. City of Oxford, Mississippi, Oxford Municipal Court, Lawrence L. Little.
- 3. George Dunbar Prewitt, Jr.
- 4. The attorneys, i.e., Mayo Mallette, PLLC, representing the appellees.

Statement of the Issues

- 1. Whether a Mississippi Municipal Court has (a) subject matter jurisdiction over crimes involving a person who was a minor at the time the crime was allegedly committed, (b) subject matter jurisdiction over an appellant who was an adult at the time of the appellant's conviction, (c) subject matter jurisdiction over a minor who did not possess alcoholic beverages in a public place, and (d) subject matter jurisdiction over a citation/affidavit which did not allege the essential facts of the alleged violation?
- 2. Whether a Mississippi Municipal Court has personal jurisdiction where a post-arrest citation, requiring the appellant's appearance in court, was issued by one of the arresting officers who could not be deemed a neutral and detached magistrate?
- 3. Whether a Mississippi Municipal Court has personal jurisdiction over a minor in the absence of formal process being issued to the minor <u>and</u> to the parents of the minor as required by <u>In re Edwards</u>, 298 So. 2d 703, 704 (Miss. 1974)?
- 4. Whether the venue statute, MCA 11-45-25, which requires that all litigation against a municipality be brought and heard in the county where that municipality is located, is exclusive and jurisdictional?

- 5. Whether Circuit Court Judge Albert Smith III (a) erred in granting the appellee's 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss, and (b) whether Judge Smith's dismissal of the case, following a Bolivar County hearing of a case filed against the City of Oxford, Mississippi and City of Oxford officials in the Lafayette County Circuit Court, is void for lack of proper venue?
- 6. Whether the appellant properly relied on <u>Duvall v. Duvall</u>, 224 Miss. 546, 80 So.2d 752 (1955), in filing the collateral lawsuit which alleged a void judgment by the Oxford Municipal Court?
- 7. Whether Judge Smith erred in imposing \$7,763.15 in sanctions for what Judge Smith termed a "frivolous" lawsuit?
- 8. Whether the attorneys for the appellees were lawfully hired pursuant to MCA 25-1-47?
- 9. Whether (a) a Budweiser Beer is an alcoholic beverage in Mississippi and (b) whether the rear floor of a vehicle is a public place within the meaning of MCA 67-1-81(2)?
- 10. Whether MCA 43-21-159 violates Section 159(d) of the Mississippi Constitution?

Statement of the Case

The underlying case began at 11 p.m. on May 6, 2008 when the appellant, Richard A. Prewitt, was charged with violating MCA 67-1-81(2). The official narrative of the Oxford Police Department's Michelle Thompson reads as follows;

"On above date and time, I, Officer Michelle Thompson was dispatched to Campus Walk Building E for a complaint of a vehicle with loud music. Upon arrival, there were 2 females and a male subject standing in the parking lot beside a car. When I approached, the male subject, Anthony Prewitt, was holding a Budweiser in his hand. I asked Prewitt how old he was and he said he was 20 years old. I wrote Prewitt a Post Arrest Citation for possession of alcohol by a minor. There was also another Budweiser in the backseat floor of Prewitt's vehicle. The beer was placed in evidence. Court date was set for May 28, 2008 at 1000 am. Nothing further."

Although Officer Thompson's official report, and the post-arrest citation, clearly charged the appellant, then a minor, with a violation of MCA 67-1-81(2), the appellant was subsequently convicted, as an adult, and **unlawfully** sentenced to a fine of \$619.50, two years probation, 30 days of community service with 25 suspended, and to complete a BASICS alcohol program on the Ole Miss campus. Specifically, MCA 67-1-81(2) provides, in part, that;

"Any person under the age of twenty-one (21) years who purchases, receives, or has in his or her possession in any public place, any alcoholic beverages, shall be guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be punished by a

fine of not less than Two Hundred Dollars (\$200.00) nor more than Five Hundred Dollars (\$500.00)."

An illegal sentence in Mississippi violates fundamental rights, and an adult cannot be convicted of an offense than can only be committed by a minor.

The appellant filed a collateral lawsuit alleging that the municipal court lacked subject matter jurisdiction (1) over minors, and (2) over a defendant where there was no proof that the defendant possessed alcoholic beverages in a public place, lacked personal jurisdiction because no formal process was issued to the minor and his parents, and had acted in a manner inconsistent with due process because the municipal court permitted the prosecutors to dispense with Miranda rights, illegally sentenced the defendant, permitted the post-arrest citation to be issued by Lt. Bobby Kelly, one of the arresting officers, and permitted Officer Michelle Thompson, in one of the many discovery violations, to omit Kelly's name from her official report in an effort to conceal that Oxford Municipal Court Deputy Clerk Bobby Kelly was one of the arresting officers.

Bolivar County Circuit Court Judge Albert Smith III was appointed by the Mississippi Supreme Court to preside over the collateral lawsuit. Judge Smith held a hearing in the Bolivar County Circuit Court, an improper venue, and granted a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. Judge Smith also

imposed \$7763.15 in sanctions on the appellant's attorney for filing what Smith claims was a frivolous, collateral lawsuit designed to circumvent the direct appellate route.

Summary of the Argument

- 1. The appellee Oxford Municipal Court and appellee Lawrence L. Little, in rendering the November 19, 2008 judgment against the appellant, lacked subject matter jurisdiction, personal jurisdiction, and acted in a manner inconsistent with due process. Therefore, the November 19, 2008 decision, of the appellees Oxford Municipal Court and Lawrence L. Little, is void, not voidable.
- 2. The appellee City of Oxford failed to hire attorneys for appellee Lawrence L. Little pursuant to the statutory procedure established in MCA 25-1-47. Therefore, the legal appearances and legal documents filed on behalf of the appellees, by the persons claiming to be attorneys for the appellees, are void because the procedure in 25-1-47 must be undertaken **prior** to hiring of the attorneys, and not subsequent to the hiring of the attorneys.
- 3. Bolivar County Circuit Court Judge Albert Smith III erred in granting the appellees' 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. If Judge Smith had presumed the

complaint's allegations to be true, as required by Mississippi law in deciding 12(b)(6) motions, then (a) the appellant did not violate MCA 67-1-81(2), (b) Mississippi municipal courts lack jurisdiction over a minor charged with a violation of MCA 67-1-81(2), (c) Mississippi courts are required to serve the parents and the minor to secure personal jurisdiction. (d) Lawrence L. Little imposed an illegal sentence for the ostensible violation of MCA 67-1-81(2), (e) Lawrence L. Little permitted actions incompatible with due process, i.e., the failure to provide the appellant with Miranda warnings, discovery violations, Lt. Bobby Kelly acting as both arresting officer and prosecutor, (e) <u>Duvall v. Duvall</u>, 224 Miss. 546, 552, 80 So. 2d 752, 754 (1955), authorizes collateral actions against void judgments in addition to direct appeals, and Judge Smith should not have granted the 12(b)(6) motion because a claim was stated upon which relief should have been granted.

4. Judge Smith committed a jurisdictional error in changing the venue of the Lafayette County Circuit Court case, by holding a hearing in Bolivar County, Mississippi, because the venue statute for municipalities is exclusive and jurisdictional. Thus, Judge Smith's decisions in this case are void because of the failure to comply with the exclusive and

jurisdictional venue statute for municipalities.

5. Judge Smith erred in imposing sanctions of \$7763.15 against the attorney for the appellant because the case was not frivolous, was not imposed for delay and harassment, and because Judge Smith did not employ the factors in McKee v. McKee, 418 So. 2d 764, 767 (Miss. 1982), i.e., the factors in Rule 1.5 of the Mississippi Rules of Professional Conduct, before imposing the sanctions.

Argument

I. Bolivar County Circuit Court Judge Albert Smith III erred in granting the appellees' 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss.

Judge Smith, who was appointed by the Mississippi Supreme Court to preside over the case below, made the following legal errors; (1) Judge Smith, over the appellant's objection, held a hearing in Bolivar County on a case that was filed against the City of Oxford and its officials in the Lafayette County Circuit Court; that derogation of the exclusive and jurisdictional venue mandated by MCA 11-45-25 for cases against municipalities renders Smith's decisions void, (2) Judge Smith failed to follow the 12(b)(6) motion procedure that was recently repeated by the Mississippi Supreme Court in Wilbourn v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States, 998 So. 2d 430, (¶12,¶13) (Miss. 2008), (3) Judge

Smith failed to note the Mississippi Supreme Court's use of a mandamus writ to vacate a void decision in <u>In re Moore</u>, 722 So. 2d 465 (Miss. 1998) and failed to note that collateral proceedings to vacate a void judgment was outlined in <u>Duvall v. Duvall</u>, 224 Miss. 546, 552, 80 So. 2d 752, 754 (1955), and (4) Judge Smith failed to note that the complaint sought injunctive and declaratory relief as well as mandamus relief.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has written, in Clark v. Luvel Dairy Prods., Inc., 731 So. 2d 1098 (¶24,¶25, ¶27) (Miss. 1998) that "[v]enue is a function of statute, that Rule 82(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides that "Except as provided by this rule, venue of all actions shall be as provided by statute", and that under the common law and statutory law in Mississippi, "no municipality has been sued outside the county of its domicile." In City of Durant v. Laws Constr. Co., 721 So. 2d 598, ¶26, (Miss. 1998), the Mississippi Supreme Court wrote, in response to an assertion that a circuit court's decision was void because a hearing was held in an improper venue, that the movant should have objected to venue not later than the first hearing. In this case, the lawsuit, against a municipality and its officials, was filed in the Lafayette County Circuit Court pursuant to MCA § 11-45-25 which provides, in part, that;

"A municipality may sue and be sued by its corporate name. Suits against any municipality shall be instituted in the county in which such municipality is situated, where such actions are brought in the circuit or chancery or county courts, and where such municipality is wholly situated in one (1) county."

In spite of the above, Judge Smith scheduled a hearing in this case for the Bolivar County Courthouse where he granted the appellees' motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief could be granted. The appellant objected to the venue, and sought a stay of the Bolivar County hearing from the Mississippi Supreme Court in No. 2009-M-00374. The appellant's request was denied by the Mississippi Supreme Court on March 10, 2009, and the March 11, 2009 Bolivar County hearing proceeded even though the appellant objected to the venue at the outset of that hearing.

Judge Smith noted the appellant's objection to the venue change, in item 6 of Smith's March 25, 2009 order granting the motion to dismiss, but wrote, in the March 25, 2009 Order of Dismissal, that the "Plaintiff consented to the hearing by his presence" and that "the Court was not required to hold any hearing on Defendants' Motion." Because the appellant timely objected to the change in the venue of the March 11, 2009 hearing, the appellant has not waived this issue. Additionally, because of

the common law requirement, as codified in MCA § 11-45-25, that all actions against municipalities must be decided in the county of their domicile, MCA § 11-45-25 appears to be an exclusive, jurisdictional statute, i.e., a statute where venue cannot be waived because it is jurisdictional. See generally Nat'l Heritage Realty, Inc. v. Estate of Boles, 947 So. 2d 238, (¶36) (Miss. 2006), Price v. Price, 202 Miss. 268, 274, 32 So. 2d 124, 126 (1947). Thus, Judge Smith's March 25, 2009 Order of Dismissal is void because it was the result of a venue violation in the March 11, 2009 hearing in Bolivar County where Judge Smith initially announced his decision to dismiss the Lafayette County Circuit Court lawsuit.

Judge Smith also failed to follow the (12(b)(6) motion procedure recently outlined by the Mississippi Supreme Court in Wilbourn v. Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States, 998 So. 2d 430, (¶12,¶13) (Miss. 2008). In Wilbourn, the Mississippi Supreme Court wrote that "The allegations in the complaint must be taken as true, there must be no set of facts that would allow the plaintiff to prevail. . . . This Court must find that there is no set of facts that would entitle a defendant to relief under the law in order to affirm an order granting the dismissal of a claim on a Rule

12(b)(6) motion. ... [I]n order to survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, the complaint need only state a set of facts that will allow the plaintiff some relief in court." (emphasis added). The Wilbourn Court wrote that " Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b) further states that: [i]f, on a motion to dismiss for failure of the pleading to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56, and all parties shall be given reasonable opportunity to present all material made pertinent to such a motion by Rule 56. ... Furthermore, this Court has stated that "[w]here a Rule 12(b)(6) motion is converted into one for summary judgment, . . . the trial court must give ten days' notice for such a hearing " Jones, 798 So. 2d at 476 (emphasis added). See Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c) ("[t]he motion shall be served at least ten days before the time fixed for the hearing."). "The requirements of Rule 56(c), far from being a mere extension of our liberal procedure exalting substance over form, represents a procedural safeguard to prevent the unjust deprivation of a litigant's constitutional right to a jury trial." (emphasis added). And in footnote 9 of the Wilbourn decision, the Court noted that documents which were attached to the

Motion to Dismiss were not part of the complaint, for purposes of the Motion to Dismiss, and that a judge must stay within the confines of the complaint, as noted above, in deciding a motion to dismiss.

Judge Smith also went outside of the complaint in this case by citing the appellant's "Mot. for Hearing and Inj. Relief, at 3-4" and the appellant's "Resp. to Mot. to Dismiss and for sanctions, at 3-4", in item 3 of Smith's March 25, 2009 Order of Dismissal. In item 3 and item 11 of Smith's March 25, 2009 Order of Dismissal, Judge Smith claimed, in improper and unlawful reliance on the appellant's motion for hearing and injunctive relief in addition to the appellant's response to motion to dismiss and for sanctions, that the appellant and his attorney "filed this lawsuit in order to circumvent" the direct appeal route. Not only is Smith's claim false, for the appellant filed a timely notice of direct appeal of the November 19, 2008 municipal court decision, but Smith is legally precluded, in adjudicating a motion to dismiss, from taking judicial notice of what Smith claims were admissions by the appellant and his attorney in various motions aside from the complaint. Judge Smith, by straying from the allegations in the complaint and by failing to give notice to the parties that he was converting the motion to dismiss into a summary judgment motion, also violated the

<u>Wilbourn</u> requirement that 10 days notice of a summary judgment hearing must be provided in such an instance.

Apart from the above errors, Judge Smith also erred in his view that a void judgment, by a lower court, cannot be corrected by a collateral action. Although the appellant's complaint sought, in paragraph 20 of the complaint, declaratory and injunctive relief in addition to the mandamus relief sought in paragraph 1 and in paragraph 19, Judge Smith focused exclusively on the mandamus relief sought and wrote that the appellant had an adequate remedy at law and that mandamus relief could be denied, in the public interest, even assuming a legal right had been violated.

Judge Smith, apparently, is unfamiliar with In re Moore, 722 So. 2d 465 (Miss. 1998), where the Mississippi Supreme Court used the mandamus writ to vacate a void judgment.

In this case, the complaint also alleged that the decision in question was void, not that the appellant had suffered an unredressed legal right. In paragraphs 16, 17 and 18, the complaint alleged that the November 19, 2008 Oxford Municipal Court decision was void due to a lack of subject matter jurisdiction, that no arrest warrant was ever properly issued for the appellant, and that a number of due process violations had occurred. In

short, as alleged in paragraph 15 of the complaint, a judgment is void if the rendering court lacked subject matter jurisdiction, jurisdiction over the parties, or acted in a manner inconsistent with due process. The complaint, in paragraph 11, pointed out why the November 19, 2008 decision was void by alleging that only three Mississippi courts have ever had jurisdiction over minors; the chancery courts, the former family courts, and the youth courts. Paragraph 12 of the complaint alleged that to the extent that MCA 43-21-159 delegates jurisdiction over minors to courts which are entirely independent of the chancery courts, 43-21-159 is unconstitutional as violative of Article 6, 159(d) of the Mississippi Constitution which states that "The chancery court shall have full jurisdiction" in "Minor's business."

As pointed out in <u>Duvall</u>, supra, "the test of jurisdiction is whether the court has the right to enter on the inquiry, and not whether its methods were regular, its findings right, or its conclusions according to law." Thus, the complaint was calling Smith's attention to the claim that the Oxford Municipal Court lacked the constitutional power to adjudicate a criminal case involving a minor, and not merely, as Smith apparently believed, that some constitutional or statutory right of the appellant was infringed which

could be corrected on direct appeal. "The test of jurisdiction is the power to act, not the correctness of its decision." <u>Duvall</u>, supra. Thus, Judge Smith's Order of Dismissal indicated a fundamental misunderstanding of the dichotomy between a court's power to act, and the exercise of that power to act, when Smith wrote that the appellant can "raise all of his objections as affirmative defenses at his trial de novo." As alleged in paragraph 18 of the complaint, Mississippi law holds that if a lower court lacks jurisdiction, a Mississippi circuit court also lacks jurisdiction over an appeal from that lower court. <u>Standard Fin. Corp. v. Breland</u>, 163 So. 2d 232, 236, (Miss. 1964). In short, if the Oxford Municipal Court lacked jurisdiction over the appellant, no appellate court can acquire jurisdiction.

That is why a direct appeal is not an adequate remedy in this case, and why <u>Duvall</u> held that "It is equally well settled that a judgment rendered by a court having no jurisdiction of the subject matter is void, not merely voidable, and may be attacked directly or collaterally, anywhere, and at any time." In a direct contradiction of the foregoing statement in <u>Duvall</u>, Smith wrote that "judicial efficiency and economy will be hindered if Plaintiff is allowed to challenge his conviction in this parallel civil proceeding...."

Thus, if Judge Smith had only considered the allegations of the

complaint as being true, as required in a motion to dismiss, Smith would have been legally unable to grant the 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss for the appellant's collateral claim, against a void judgment, is certainly viable under <u>Duvall</u>, supra.

II. The appellee Oxford Municipal Court and appellee Lawrence L. Little, in rendering the November 19, 2008 judgment against the appellant, lacked subject matter jurisdiction, personal jurisdiction, and acted in a manner inconsistent with due process.

In the foregoing section, the appellant indicated that the Oxford Municipal Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over a minor.

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