## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO	O. 2009-C	A-00684
CIECE III	O. = • • ·	12 0000.

RICHARD A. PREWITT

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

CITY OF OXFORD, MISSISSIPPI, OXFORD MUNICIPAL COURT, and LAWRENCE L. LITTLE

**DEFENDANTS/APPELLEES** 

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LAFAYETTE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

# **BRIEF OF APPELLEES**

PAUL B. WATKINS, JR. (MB NO. POPE S. MALLETTE (MB NO. MAYO MALLETTE PLLC 5 University Office Park 2094 Old Taylor Road Post Office Box 1456 Oxford, Mississippi 38655 Telephone: (662) 236-0055

Facsimile: (662) 236-0035

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

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

Appellant may not seek a writ of mandamus against the City, its departments, or its agents as a substitute for the statutory appeals process by which he may challenge his Municipal Court conviction. All of Appellant's objections to his conviction, including his jurisdictional objections, must be addressed through an appeal *de novo* as provided by law.

The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in awarding sanctions against Appellant's attorney. Appellant's civil lawsuit could not succeed, as Mississippi law unequivocally prohibits the relief sought therein. Appellant's attorney refused to dismiss the lawsuit and required the City to spend taxpayer money to defend this frivolous lawsuit and appeal.

Appellant's appeal is also frivolous because it was filed without hope of success, and the Court should award the City additional just damages and costs incurred in defending this matter.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## A. Standards of review.

A motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim raises an issue of law for the Court to review de novo. See Wilbourn v. Equitable Life Assur. Soc. of the U.S., 998 So.2d 430, 434-35 (Miss. 2008). The Court reviews awards of monetary sanctions under the Litigation Accountability Act and Miss. R. Civ. P. 11 for an abuse of discretion. In re Spencer, 985 So.2d 330, 336-37 (Miss. 2008).

# B. Appellant may not challenge his municipal court conviction through a petition for a writ of mandamus.

A writ of mandamus is an extraordinary remedy that is unavailable as a matter of law when the petitioner has a "plain, adequate, and speedy remedy in the ordinary course of law." MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-41-1. Both UNIF. CIR. AND COUNTY CT. R. 12.02 and MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-35-1 provide that appeals from justice and municipal courts are to be made to the circuit court of the county in which the conviction was taken. Such appeals are to be tried *de novo*. UCCCR 12.02(c). This Court has held that when the jurisdiction of a justice court is challenged, a trial *de novo* in circuit court affords the defendant "all the legal rights to which he [is] entitled." *Arnold v. State*, 115 So. 885, 886 (Miss. 1928); *see also Stidham v. State*, 750 So. 2d 1238, 1245 (Miss. 1999) ("Any defect in the judgment of the justice court is harmless [when defendant] appealed and received a jury trial *de novo* in circuit court").

In considering a similar situation, this Court recently held that a justice court conviction could not be challenged through a petition for a writ of mandamus. *In re Chisolm*, 837 So. 2d 183

(2003). In *Chisolm*, the petitioner sought mandamus relief after being convicted of a DUI offense in absentia by the Hinds County Justice Court. *Id.* at 185-86. In a separate civil action, the petitioner sought a writ of mandamus from the Hinds County Circuit Court, which granted the relief. *Id.* at 186. This Court reversed and held that

[t]he writ of mandamus was the improper procedural tool to remedy Chisolm's grievances. Hinds County has a county court system and appeals from a justice court are to the county court and the trial is de novo. See MISS. CODE ANN. § 99-35-1; URCCC 12.02. Chisolm and his attorney improperly attempted to circumvent the orderly system of appellate review by asking the circuit court to issue an injunction or a writ of mandamus to give him a new trial in justice court. The writ of mandamus is an extraordinary remedy which is not a substitute for appeal. Chisolm will suffer no injury in a proper appeal as provided for by law. Under the law, cases before justice court and municipal judges are appealable and are tried de novo before a county judge. The law provides an adequate remedy for Chisolm. The grant of the writ of mandamus was in error. There is no reason that any erroneous actions by the justice court cannot be remedied on appeal.

## Id. at 190 (emphasis added)

For the same reasons, The Circuit Court correctly dismissed Appellant's request for mandamus relief against the City, its Municipal Court, and its Municipal Court Judge.

Appellant ignores *Chisolm* and argues that a *trial de novo* was not an adequate remedy because the Municipal Court lacked jurisdiction over him in the first place and, thus, the Circuit Court lacked jurisdiction to entertain such a direct appeal. Appellant's Br., at 18-20. First, even if Appellant were correct that the Municipal Court lacked original jurisdiction over him (a question not presented by this appeal), the Circuit Court enjoys the inherent authority to consider its own jurisdiction and, when it sits as an appellate court, that of lower or intermediate courts. *See*, *e.g.*, *U.S. Catholic Conf. v. Abortion Rights Mobilization*, 487 U.S. 72, 79 (1988) ("Nothing we have said puts in question the inherent and legitimate authority of the court to issue process and other binding

orders. . . as necessary for the court to determine and rule upon its own jurisdiction, including jurisdiction over the subject matter."); *U.S. v. Shipp*, 203 U.S. 563, 573 (1906) ("Until its judgment declining jurisdiction should be announced, [appellate court] had authority from the necessity of the case to make orders to preserve the existing conditions and the subject of the petition ...."); *Penrod Drilling Co. v. Bounds*, 433 So. 2d 916, 924 (Miss. 1983) (Robertson, J., specially concurring) ("I would begin by emphasizing that every court has jurisdiction to determine its own jurisdiction.").

Appellant claims that *Std. Fin. Corp. v. Breland*, 163 So. 2d 232 (Miss. 1964) demonstrates the Circuit Court's lack of appellate jurisdiction over his direct appeal. In *Breland*, the Supreme Court noted that the circuit court had dismissed an appealed justice court matter because the amount in controversy exceeded the justice court's jurisdictional limit – the dismissed matter itself was not even appealed to the Supreme Court. 163 So. 2d at 422-23. Appellant's reliance on *In re Moore*, 722 So.2d 465 (Miss. 1998) and *Duvall v. Duvall*, 80 So.2d 752 (Miss. 1955) is similarly misplaced, as neither of those cases holds that a defendant may elect to collaterally attack his municipal court conviction in a separate civil proceeding rather than appeal it as provided by law. In *Moore*, the Attorney General sought extraordinary relief to vacate a judge's order that unlawfully reduced an inmate's sentence; there was no statutory appeals procedure by which to challenge such an action. *Duvall* involved a direct appeal of a domestic property distribution dispute; the Court never even mentions a writ of mandamus.

Appellant objects to the propriety of his Municipal Court convictions. However, even if his objections to his municipal court convictions ultimately succeed, Mississippi law unequivocally precludes him from asserting those objections in a civil action for mandamus relief. The City has

taken no action to preclude Appellant from pursuing a properly-noticed direct appeal of his conviction to the Circuit Court.

# C. The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in awarding sanctions to the City.

1. Appellant's conduct warranted the imposition of sanctions.

In awarding sanctions against Appellant's attorney, the Circuit Court specifically found that Appellant's lawsuit was a frivolous action that was filed without substantial justification and for the purpose of harassing Appellees. Order Granting Sanctions (April 16, 2009). Unless this Court reaches a "definite and firm conviction" that the Circuit Court "committed a clear error of judgment," in granting sanctions against Appellant's attorney, the sanctions must be affirmed. *In re Spencer*, 985 So.2d 330, 337 (Miss. 2008).

The Litigation Accountability Act of 1988 provides that reasonable attorney fees and costs may be awarded in the discretion of the trial court when a party or his attorney brings an action "without substantial justification," an action that was "interposed for delay or harassment," or when the party or attorney "unnecessarily expanded the proceedings by other improper conduct." MISS CODE ANN. § 11-55-5(1) (emphasis added). A claim is "without substantial justification" under the Litigation Accountability Act when it is "frivolous, groundless in fact or in law, or vexatious." § 11-55-3(a). A claim is "frivolous" when it has no objective hope of success. See Wilson v. Greyhound Bus Lines, 830 So. 2d 1151, 1159 (Miss. 2002).

MISS. R. CIV. P. 11 provides for sanctions when a party or attorney files a pleading that is "frivolous or is filed for the purpose of harassment or delay." This Court has held that Rule 11 sanctions are appropriate when a defendant has a "complete defense." *Tricon Metals & Svcs., Inc.* v. Topp, 537 So. 2d 1331, 1337 (Miss. 1989) ("It is the same as if plaintiff filed and pursued a claim

that was clearly barred by the statute of limitations."); see also Illinois Cent. R. Co. v. Broussard, No. 2007-CA-01010-COA, 2008 WL 4405166, at \*3-4 (Miss. Ct. App. Sept. 30, 2008) (reversing trial court's denial of motion for sanctions, mandating an award of attorney fees and holding that, when defendant "had a complete defense from the moment [the] lawsuit was filed, ... [the suit] falls under the legal definition of a frivolous lawsuit for which sanctions are authorized under Rule 11 and the Act.").

As detailed above, *Chisolm* provides the City with a complete defense to Plaintiff's request for mandamus relief. Appellant and his counsel were well aware of the City's complete defense. On the same day that he received a copy of Appellant's original Complaint, the City's general counsel sent a letter to Appellant's counsel citing *Chisolm* and requesting that Appellant dismiss his civil lawsuit in favor of a direct appeal as provided by statute. *See* Ex. "A" to Defs.' Mot. to Dismiss and for Sanctions (Dec. 16, 2008). After Appellant refused to dismiss his claim and instead noticed a direct appeal of his conviction, the City's counsel again requested that Appellant dismiss his claim, to no avail. *See* Ex. "B" to Defs.' Supp. to Mot. to Dismiss and for Sanctions (Jan. 12, 2009). Appellant admitted in briefing that this action was originally filed to avoid the higher cost of the fees and bonds associated with a direct criminal appeal. *See* Rsp. to Mot. to Dismiss, at 3-4 (Dec. 13, 2008).

Appellant's actions required the City to defend a civil action that lacked any objective hope of success because it was plainly foreclosed by a complete defense. Appellant has unnecessarily expanded the proceedings related to his Municipal Court conviction by maintaining two simultaneous challenges to that conviction upon the docket of the Lafayette County Circuit Court. The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in awarding sanctions.

# 2. The City's request for attorney fees was reasonable.

Appellant does not argue that the amount of monetary sanctions awarded by the Circuit Court was unreasonable or excessive. Instead, he asserts that the Circuit Court did not make sufficient findings to support its award of sanctions. Even if this were true, this Court will not reverse an award of sanctions for a lack of explicit factual findings when a motion for sanctions is supported by sufficient evidence. *See Eatman v. City of Moss Point*, 809 So.2d 591, 593 (Miss. 2000). The Circuit Court is assumed to have made the necessary factual determinations. *Id*.

In fact, ample record evidence supported the award of sanctions. In support of its request for sanctions, the City provided detailed billing related to the fees incurred by its counsel and affidavits from its attorneys and another local attorney attesting to the reasonableness of those fees.. The information provided by the City in support of its Motion for Sanctions specifically addressed the factors set forth in the Litigation Accountability Act, *see* Defs.' Reply and Suppl. in Supp. of Mot. for Sanctions, at 1-2 (April 7, 2009), and the factors contained in Miss. R. Prof'l Conduct 1.5(a) and *McKee v. McKee*, 418 So.2d 764 (Miss. 1982), *see* Defs.' Reply and Suppl. in Supp. of Mot. for Sanctions, at Exs. "A" and "B" (April 7, 2009); Defs.' Supp. to Mot. for Sanctions, at Exs. "D," "E," and "F" (March 23, 2009). Appellant did not present any evidence to rebut any of the City's supporting affidavits and documentation of reasonableness, nor has he ever argued that the City's supporting documentation was inadequate or that its request for attorney fees was unreasonable. The Circuit Court's Order Granting Sanctions adopted the information and argument set forth in the City's pleadings in support of its Motion for Sanctions, and this Court should affirm that Order.

## D. The Court should award damages for this frivolous appeal.

Under MISS. R. APP. P. 38, this Court shall award damages and single or double costs if it finds that an appeal is frivolous. As is the case with MISS. R. CIV. P. 11 and the Litigation Accountability Act, an appeal is "frivolous" under MISS. R. APP. P. 38 if it is made without hope of success. *Harris v. Harris*, 988 So. 2d 376, 380 (Miss. 2008); *In re Spencer*, 985 So.2d 330, 338 (Miss. 2008). Because, as discussed above, the City had a complete defense from the outset of this appeal, Appellant has no hope of success on his appeal. Because this appeal clearly falls under the legal definition of a frivolous appeal, this Court should award additional sanctions against Appellant and/or his attorney.

The taxpayers of the City of Oxford have been unnecessarily and unfairly forced to bear the financial burden of this litigation. Appellant's improper request for mandamus relief has required the City to pay its hourly-paid general counsel to defend this claim. The claim was not covered under any insurance policy maintained by the City, and the salaried City Prosecutor could not be called upon to defend a civil lawsuit to which the City's Municipal Judge was named a defendant. As Appellant has also noticed a direct appeal, the City is left to defend the decision of its Municipal Court *twice*, once through the proper criminal appeals process and once through this unlawful request for civil relief.

Because this appeal was frivolous from the outset, the City requests the Court to award additional sanctions in the form of attorney fees and costs expended in defending this appeal. If granted, the City will supplement this request with documentation of its expenses.

#### E. Other issues.

Prewitt raises various other issues that have little or no bearing on the issues this Court must decide. To the extent such issues require a response, the City does so below.

#### I. Substantive issues.

Appellant raises numerous substantive objections to his conviction, only some of which were even mentioned below. These objections include issues of personal and subject matter jurisdiction, the constitutionality of certain state statutes, and whether "Budweiser beer is an alcoholic beverage in Mississippi." Appellant's Br., at 6-7. Because this civil lawsuit was an improper vehicle through which to raise those objections, the Circuit Court did not consider them in granting the City's Motion to Dismiss. No evidence on any of these issues was placed into the record, and the City did not brief any of these issues. Appellant may raise all of these issues in the context of his direct criminal appeal, but they are not now properly before the Court. Even if Appellant's substantive objections are ultimately found to have merit, they were improperly raised in this appeal.

# 2. Location of hearing on Appellees' Motion to Dismiss.

Citing MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-45-25, Appellant argues that the Circuit Court's Order of Dismissal is void because the Special Circuit Judge appointed by this Court heard argument on the City's Motion to Dismiss in Bolivar County instead of in Lafayette County, where suit was filed. Appellant's Br., at 13-15. The City's attorney scheduled the hearing at the Bolivar County Courthouse on Judge Smith's regularly-scheduled motion hearing day. The location of this hearing was more convenient for Judge Smith and Appellant's attorney (who lists a Greenville address) than was Oxford, where the City's attorneys are located.

Appellant sought to stop the March 11, 2009 hearing by filing a Petition for Emergency Relief with this Court, which the Court denied (Cause No. 2009-M-00374). The hearing went forward, and Appellant's attorney attended. He did not call witnesses, from Lafayette County or from anywhere else, as the hearing was limited to the 12(b)(6) issues.

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